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 INTRODUCTION

Plaintiff Bernard Johnson, a New York State prison inmate who is proceeding pro se and in forma pauperis, by and through his undersigned counsel,
 respectfully submits this Trial Brief.  
STATEMENT OF UNDISPUTED FACTS

1. Plaintiff is an inmate currently incarcerated at the Sullivan Correctional Facility located in Fallsburg, New York.  Plaintiff’s DOCS identification number is 99-A-6283.
2. From approximately April, 2002 until March, 2003, plaintiff was an inmate incarcerated at Shawangunk Correctional Facility (“Shawangunk”), located in Wallkill, New York.
3. Defendant J.T. Smith (“Smith”) was, upon information and belief (and may still be), the duly designated Superintendant of Shawangunk, having been so designated on or about October, 2002, and continuing thereafter until and including at least March, 2005.
4. Shortly after defendant Smith began his tenure as Superintendent of Shawangunk, he was informed that there were certain defects in certain areas of the gymnasium floor, including areas where bubbles had formed in the vinyl overlay (the floor originally being constructed of a vinyl veneer placed over a concrete base).
5. At all times relevant to the allegations in the Complaint, defendant Smith was aware that such defects in the gymnasium floor had existed since at least 1990.
6. In 1995, Shawangunk’s Plant Superintendent, John Ewanciw, requested funding from DOCS’s Office of Facilities Planning to replace the entire gymnasium floor.  Said funding was not received until a date subsequent to the date of plaintiff’s injuries sub judice.
7. On January 10, 2003, an inmate other than plaintiff filed a grievance with Shawangunk administration regarding injuries he suffered while playing basketball in the gymnasium on January 8, 2003.  The inmate alleged, inter alia, that he “steped [sic] on a protuberance [sic] unevenness [sic] on the gym floor and inadvertently [sic] [balance of statement, including description of the injury suffered, redacted by DOCS].”  The “[A]ction requested by inmate” was “To fix Gym floor to prevent any more serious inmate injury from occurring.” 
8. On January 23, 2003, defendant Smith noted in reply to the January 10, 2003, inmate grievance that, “Grievant wants the gym floor repaired because of an injury he sustained,” and that “[N]umerous attempts to repair a ‘bubbling’ condition on the gym floor have been made since 1990.  The problem re-emerges after each repair.”  Superintendent Smith then “accepted [the grievance] only to the extent that efforts at a permanent repair will continue.”
9. On January 17, 2003, an inmate other than plaintiff filed a grievance with Shawangunk administration regarding injuries he suffered while playing basketball in the gymnasium on January 13, 2003.   The inmate alleged, inter alia, “I jumped for the ball and came down on a part of the basketball court that is damaged with an air pocket in the floor. . . There has [sic] been several previous injuries caused by the damaged gym floor.  [DOCS once again redacted the nature of the injuries allegedly suffered in January 13, 2003].”  The “[A]ction requested by inmate” was “That the Gym floor be repaired immediately and I be compensated for my [DOCS once again redacted the nature of the injuries allegedly suffered in January 13, 2003].” 
10. On February 3, 2003, defendant Smith noted in reply to the January 17, 2003, inmate grievance that, “Grievant states that he sustained an injury while playing basketball on the faulty floor,” and that “[N]umerous attempts to repair a ‘bubbling’ condition on the gym floor have been made since 1990.  The problem re-emerges after each repair.”  Superintendent Smith then “accepted [the grievance] only to the extent that efforts at a permanent repair will continue.”
11. On January 29, 2003, plaintiff was playing basketball in the same Shawangunk gymnasium where the injuries described, supra, had occurred.  As of that date, defendant had imposed no restrictions and posted no warnings regarding the unsafe condition of the gymnasium floor.  While rebounding a ball, plaintiff landed on a large bubble in the gymnasium floor causing his right foot to roll beneath him.  
12. Plaintiff sought medical treatment, which he received later in the day on January 29, 2003, and continuing from time to time thereafter.  He was examined and treated by the facility’s medical center staff, who wrapped plaintiff’s injured ankle and foot tightly and prescribed crutches and pain relief medication (Ibuprofen).  Plaintiff thereafter took physical therapy for his injured foot and continued to experience pain and discomfort until and including September, 2003.
13. Defendant Smith had the capacity to, but failed to prevent or restrict qualified inmate access to the gymnasium until a date subsequent to January 29, 2003.  Defendant Smith has testified that “I did not limit use of the gym prior to plaintiff’s accident because I did not believe the condition of the floor at that time posed a threat to the safety of inmates or staff.”  (See Affidavit of Joseph T. Smith, sworn to March 17, 2005, submitted in support of defendant’s Motion for Summary Judgment.).
14. Defendant Smith testified further that “I did not attempt to make any repairs to the gym floor at that time because I was advised that previous attempts to fix the floor had failed, and I thought it would be best to wait for a determination from the Office of Facilities Planning of our request for funding to replace the gym floor before I took further action to repair the gym floor.”  (Id.).
15. In or about March, 2003, plaintiff was transferred to Upstate Correctional Facility, where he continued to experience pain and discomfort and to receive treatment to his right ankle and foot.

16. Notwithstanding these treatments, plaintiff continued to suffer pain and discomfort in his right foot and to receive treatments until and including September, 2003
ARGUMENT
POINT I 

By ignoring a known risk of serious inmate injury, defendant smith VIOLATED PLAINTIFF’S EIGHTH AMENDMENT RIGHT TO BE FREE FROM “CRUEL AND UNUSUAL PUNISHMENT”
Section 1983 of the Civil Rights Act of 1871 provides a remedy for vindicating violations of all rights, privileges, and immunities secured by law.  42 U.S.C. § 1983.  To state a claim under the statute, the plaintiff must establish two essential elements: (1) the violation of a right “secured by the Constitution or laws of the United States,” and (2) that the person who committed the alleged violation was “acting under color of state law.”  See West v. Atkins, 487 U.S. 42, 48 (1988).
  

The treatment that a prisoner receives in prison and the conditions under which a prisoner are confined are subject to scrutiny under the Eighth Amendment's prohibition of “cruel and unusual punishments.”  Farmer v. Brennan, 511 U.S. 825, 832 (1994); Gaston v. Coughlin, 249 F.3d 156, 164 (2d Cir. 2001); Baumann v. Walsh, 36 F. Supp.2d 508, 513 (N.D.N.Y. 1994) (Scullin, C.J.).  Prison officials have an Eighth Amendment duty to provide humane and reasonably safe conditions of incarceration.  Farmer, supra, 511 U.S. 825;  Davis v. Rennie, 264 F.3d 86, 98 (1st Cir. 2001) (state has a duty to protect incarcerated prisoners from harm by state actors).  For instance, those confined within penal institutions cannot be subjected to cruel and unusual punishments by reason of offensive practices, treatments, or unsafe physical conditions that originate within the prison setting itself and are not in any way mandated by the express terms of a court-imposed sentence.  Farmer, supra, 511 U.S. at 832.  A prison official's deliberate indifference to a substantial risk of harm to an inmate violates the Eighth Amendment.  Id.  See also Helling v. McKinney, 509 U.S. 25, 34 (1993) (Eighth Amendment protection against deliberate indifference to prison health problems extends to conditions that threaten to cause health problems in the future as well as current serious health problems); Wilson v. Seiter, 501 U.S. 294, 302-03 (1991); Estelle v. Gamble, 429 U.S. 97 (1976).  
The Supreme Court has explained the Eighth Amendment's requirements as follows:
In its prohibition of cruel and unusual punishments, the Eighth Amendment places restraints on prison officials, who may not, for example, use excessive physical force against prisoners. The Amendment also imposes duties on these officials, who must provide humane conditions of confinement; prison officials must ensure that inmates receive adequate food, clothing, shelter, and medical care and must take reasonable measure to guarantee the safety of the inmates.

Farmer, supra, 511 U.S. at 832 (citations and internal quotation marks omitted) (emphasis supplied)  
A. Elements of the Cause of Action.
Eighth Amendment claims based on official conduct that does not purport to be the penalty formally imposed for a crime require inquiry into the prison official's state of mind.  Wilson v. Seiter, supra, 501 U.S. at 299.  In order to establish an Eighth Amendment claim, an inmate must show that (1) the deprivation alleged is, when objectively viewed, sufficiently “serious” (Farmer v. Brennan, supra, 511 U.S. at 834); and (2) the prison official must have exhibited deliberate indifference to the inmate's health or safety.  Id.
1. Serious Deprivation.
To satisfy the objective standard of serious deprivation, the inmate must show a deprivation that is objectively, sufficiently serious, which means that the defendant’s actions resulted in the denial of the minimal civilized measure of life's necessities, such as a reasonable measure of physical safety and security against harmful conditions of confinement.  Id.  See also Cottrell v. Caldwell, 85 F.3d 1480, 1490-91 (11th Cir. 1996).  To be held liable for denying an inmate humane conditions of confinement, a prison official must know of and disregard an excessive risk to inmate health and safety, i.e., the official must both be aware of facts from which the inference could be drawn that a substantial risk of serious harm exists and the official must also draw that inference.  Farmer v. Brennan, supra, 511 U.S. at 837; Johnson v. Quinones, 145 F.3d 164, 167 (4th Cir. 1998).  
2. Deliberate Indifference.
Even when the objective component of the cause of action -- a substantial risk of serious harm -- is established, the plaintiff must further establish that the defendant had a sufficiently culpable state of mind.  Farmer, supra, 511 U.S. at 834.  The requisite state of mind lies “somewhere between the poles of negligence at one end and purpose or knowledge at the other.”  Id. at 836.  It is the equivalent of recklessly disregarding a substantial risk of serious harm to the inmate, i.e., deliberate indifference.  Id.
Significantly, a prisoner is not required to show that the official acted or failed to act believing that harm actually would befall an inmate; it is sufficient that the official acted or failed to act despite the official's knowledge of substantial risk of serious harm.  Id.   Similarly, this Court has observed “[T]he issue is ‘whether a substantial risk of serious harm was present, not whether serious harm actually occurred[;]’ a plaintiff can establish a case for unsafe prison conditions without suffering serious physical injury.”  Johnson v. Smith, 03-CV-1050, Memorandum,-Decision and Order (N.D.N.Y. June 29, 2006) (Scullin, C.J.), quoting, Baumann, supra, 36 F. Supp.2d at 514.
3. 
Conditions of Confinement.
The Supreme Court has stated that the Constitution “does not mandate comfortable prisons,” Rhodes v. Chapman, 452 U.S. 337, 349 (1981), but neither does it permit inhumane or unsafe ones.  Farmer v. Brennan, supra, 511 U.S. at 832. The law is therefore settled that the Eighth Amendment imposes on prison officials, inter alia, the duty to take reasonable measures to guarantee the physical safety of the inmates.  Id.  See also Hudson v. Palmer, 468 U.S. 517, 526-27 (1984).  This protection extends to unsafe physical conditions in addition to unsafe social environments.  Baumann, supra, 36 F. Supp.2d at 513-14 (holding that a substantial risk of serious harm existed when the plaintiff inmate was required “to climb along shelves and stand on boxes to retrieve material from the top shelves of the storage room” and stating that “[s]uch conditions, if proven to be true, are inherently unsafe and dangerous.”).  
The prison officials must also have a sufficiently culpable state of mind.  Farmer , supra, 511 U.S. at 834.  The inmate must establish that the prison officials acted or failed to act with deliberate indifference to inmate health or safety.  Id. at 832.

B. Plaintiff Will Establish All of The Elements of his Eighth Amendment Claim at Trial Based on Unsafe Conditions at Shawangunk and Defendant’s Failure to Warn and/or to Protect Inmates Against the Known Risk of Serious Injury from the Bubbles in the Gymnasium Floor.
1. Objective Requirement.
Reasonable safety while incarcerated has been found to be a basic human need, and plaintiff will present evidence at trial that the defective gymnasium floor caused various injuries to a number of inmates.  As to the question of whether or not said injuries were sufficiently “serious,” for purposes of making out a constitutional claim, plaintiff’s injuries required ongoing treatment for nearly nine (9) months after they were incurred, which establishes a sufficient risk of serious harm.  Plaintiff was merely lucky that the floor conditions did not cause him to break or fracture his foot or ankle.  

However, due to what appears to be improper and overzealous redactions to the other Inmate Grievances made by DOCS prior to their production to plaintiff during discovery in this action, plaintiff cannot identify or characterize the injuries suffered by the other inmates.  Consequently, plaintiff will request that unredacted copies (except for personal identifiers such as inmate name and identification number) of such grievances be made available at trial.
2. Subjective Requirement.

Defendant Smith had express knowledge of similar injuries to inmates caused by the same or similar conditions in the gymnasium floor at Shawangunk at least as of January 23, 2003, when he “accepted” (by signing a Superintendent’s determination of the grievance) another inmate’s grievance describing similar injuries which occurred under similar circumstances on or about January 10, 2003.  As facility Superintendent, defendant Smith should also be held to constructive knowledge of said inmate grievance(s) as of the date they were filed pursuant to DOCS and Shawangunk grievance procedures.
  
Furthermore, defendant Smith was informed of the defects in the gymnasium floor shortly after his arrival at Shawangunk in October, 2002, and knew that the defective condition had existed since approximately 1990.  Superintendent Smith also knew that prior attempts to repair the same conditions which caused plaintiff’s injuries had failed, thus establishing the need for a total floor replacement, funding for which was first requested in 1995, yet he continued to allow the inmates to have uninhibited access to the gymnasium floor from the date of his appointment as Superintendent in 2002, until sometime in early-2003.
3. Deliberate Indifference.

With express knowledge of a prior defective condition in the gymnasium floor which caused a series of serious injuries to inmates using the floor, defendant Smith did nothing to warn the inmates of such conditions – such as cordoning off the offending area – and unreasonably failed to restrict inmate access to the gymnasium floor for purposes of playing basketball.  Defendant Smith’s excuse for not limiting inmate access to the floor until sometime after plaintiff had been injured – i.e., “I did not believe the condition of the floor at that time posed a threat to the safety of the inmates or staff” – is belied by the fact that before plaintiff was injured on the gym floor at least two other inmates had already suffered injury there from the same conditions and reported same to Shawangunk facility staff, including defendant Smith, through the inmate grievance program.  These reports were made long before defendant Smith took any action to protect the inmates against this known risk of serious harm.  Consequently, defendant Smith failed to act to protect the inmates despite his knowledge of a substantial risk of serious harm to the inmates who frequented the basketball court.  Defendant Smith’s failure to warn and/or to act to protect the inmates under his charge from the risk of serious injury from the defective gymnasium floor constitutes deliberate indifference and a violation of plaintiff’s Eighth Amendment right to be free from cruel and unusual punishment.
CONCLUSION


For the reasons stated in this Trial Brief, and based on the facts to be adduced at trial, Bernard Johnson respectfully submits that he will prevail on his Eighth Amendment claim.

DATED:  December 22, 2006



HISCOCK & BARCLAY, LLP



/s 
William A. Hurst
By: ________________________________

William A. Hurst
Bar Roll No. 510271
Attorneys for plaintiff
Bernard Johnson
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david fruchter, esq.

the capitol
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/s
William A. Hurst
____________________________________

William A. Hurst
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I, William A. Hurst, certify, as counsel for Bernard Johnson, that on the 22nd day of December, 2006, a true and correct copy of plaintiff’s pre-trial submissions was served on Bernard Johnson, by regular first‑class mail, in accordance with the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure.

/s  
William A. Hurst
__________________________________________

William A. Hurst
� 	This Court assigned the law firm Hiscock & Barclay, LLP (William A. Hurst, of Counsel) to plaintiff’s representation pursuant to Local Rule 83.1, in an Order dated September 13, 2006.


� 	The right at issue here is the Constitutional guarantee that “[e]xcessive bail shall not be required, nor excessive fines imposed, nor cruel and unusual punishment inflicted.”  U.S. Const. amend. VIII.


� 	To succeed on a claim under Section 1983, the plaintiff must prove that the defendant’s actions were the cause in fact and the proximate cause of the plaintiff’s injury.  West v. Atkins, supra, 487 U.S. at 48.  Under Section 1983, plaintiff’s ultimate burden of proof requires proof by a preponderance of the evidence.  Richardson v. Leeds Police Dep’t., 71 F.3d 801 (11th Cir. 1995).  





� 	A second inmate grievance regarding substantially the same injuries, caused by the same conditions, was filed on or about January 17, 2003, and was “accepted” by defendant Smith on February 3, 2003.  
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